IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1974

A longitudinal comparison of attitudes and activity involvement of persons who have completed a preretirement planning program

Donald Lewis Bowman Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd

Part of the <u>Adult and Continuing Education Administration Commons</u>, and the <u>Adult and Continuing Education and Teaching Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Bowman, Donald Lewis, "A longitudinal comparison of attitudes and activity involvement of persons who have completed a preretirement planning program " (1974). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 6024. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/6024

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



INFORMATION TO USERS

This material was produced from a microfilm copy of the original document. While the most advanced technological means to photograph and reproduce this document have been used, the quality is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help you understand markings or patterns which may appear on this reproduction.

- 1. The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting thru an image and duplicating adjacent pages to insure you complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a large round black mark, it is an indication that the photographer suspected that the copy may have moved during exposure and thus cause a blurred image. You will find a good image of the page in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., was part of the material being photographed the photographer followed a definite method in "sectioning" the material. It is customary to begin photoing at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue photoing from left to right in equal sections with a small overlap. If necessary, sectioning is continued again beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. The majority of users indicate that the textual content is of greatest value, however, a somewhat higher quality reproduction could be made from "photographs" if essential to the understanding of the dissertation. Silver prints of "photographs" may be ordered at additional charge by writing the Order Department, giving the catalog number, title, author and specific pages you wish reproduced.
- 5. PLEASE NOTE: Some pages may have indistinct print. Filmed as received.

Xerox University Microfilms

BOWMAN, Donald Lewis, 1935-A LONGITUDINAL COMPARISON OF ATTITUDES AND ACTIVITY INVOLVEMENT OF PERSONS WHO HAVE COMPLETED A PRE-RETIREMENT PLANNING PROGRAM.

Iowa State University, Ph.D., 1974 Education, adult

University Microfilms, A XEROX Company, Ann Arbor, Michigan

A longitudinal comparison of attitudes and activity involvement of persons who have completed a pre-retirement planning program

by

Donald Lewis Bowman

A Dissertation Submitted to the

Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of

The Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department: Professional Studies

Major: Education (Adult Education)

Approved:

Signature was redacted for privacy.

In Charge of Major Work

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Major Department

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Caraduate College

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Purpose and Hypotheses	9
Definition of Terms	10
Sources of Data	11
Delimitations and Scope	12
Organization of the Study	12
CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE AND RELATED RESEARCH	14
Introduction	14
Types of Programs	14
Trends in Pre-Retirement Education	17
Research in Pre-Retirement Programs	20
CHAPTER III. METHODS OF PROCEDURE	26
Rationale for the Study	27
Development of Program	30
Description of Population	33
Selection of Measuring Instruments	37
CHAPTER IV. FINDINGS	40
CHAPTER V. CONCLUSIONS, DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	58
Conclusions	59
Discussion	61
Limitations	63
Recommendations	64

iii

	Page
CHAPTER VI. SUMMARY	67
BIBLIOGRAPHY	71
APPENDIX A	80
APPENDIX B	87
APPENDIX C	90
APPENDIX D	94

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

One of the major social issues of the modern day American society is that of retirement of the older person from a life of gainful employment to a life of leisure. This situation becomes a social issue primarily as a result of large numbers of persons experiencing the retirement phenomenon.

The current estimate of persons in American society age 65 and older is 22 million. This figure is increasing at a net gain of 1,000 persons every twenty-four hours (13). Additionally, there are 42 million more people of the ages 45 through 64.

This becomes of primary importance when realization is given the fact that the trend in business and industry today is to hire people under 45 and to force retirement at age 65. In many instances this forced—and arbitrary—age of retirement is being reduced to age 60 and in many instances even down as low as age 55. Although it cannot yet be substantiated, implications have been made in many periodicals and newspaper articles that by 1985 the average national age of retirement might well be as low as age 40 or 45. When consideration is given only those reaching age 65 and the fact that on the average, such a person can expect an additional 15 years of life, one can begin to understand the problems posed by forced retirement. Whether these

years will be 15 reasonably happy years depends upon many factors. Some factors, such as the death of a spouse, are beyond the control of the individual. A number of other factors, however, are subject to a considerable degree of control.

Smith (83, p. 125) points out that some people look forward to retirement while others dread it. It would appear that if retirement comes to mean a precarious and poor standard of living, universally retirement is dreaded. But there are persons who dread retirement even when pensions, annuities, and savings guarantee freedom from want. As Smith (83, pp. 125-126) has so well stated:

People dread retirement for a variety of reasons. First it is a recognition of aging, an aging they usually wish to deny. Or it may mean handing over to someone else a project into which have been poured the dreams and ambitions and loving labor of a lifetime. Worse still, it may mean seeing someone take over a project without adequate skill or without the devotion which alone will carry the task over the hard places. Each of us who has labored faithfully at a task is rewarded by the flattering illusion that he is, in this work at least, indispensable. To be disillusioned is always And when retirement is forced relatively early on a person still vigorous, he usually resents it as foolish and wasteful, for only now, just when he is being discarded, does he feel he has gained sufficient wisdom and skill, born of doing and won by experience, to be a match for the difficulties involved. But the bitterest feelings at retirement come, when, after the farewell dinner and the gold watch he goes home to feel useless for the rest of his days. This is being superannuated.

More people are reaching that period of life when they must accept either compulsory or voluntary retirement. More persons are living who will not only reach retirement but who will live longer after retirement.

With the prospect of formal retirement from the world of work facing an increasing number of workers in the present day labor force, a considerable amount of concern has developed about the difficulties people often encounter in making the transition from a working life to a life of leisure. Part of the difficulty stems from the fact that retirement is becoming less and less a matter of individual choice. Most employees have little control over either the fact of their retirement or its timing.

Leaving the employment scene, moreover, carries with it some very fundamental changes in a person's way of life. Retirement income is usually below that of the working years, and the satisfactions and associations growing out of the employment situation come to an end. At the same time, the very process of aging gives rise to other problems including declining physical abilities and reduced family responsibilities. It would appear that in order to live as socially integrated and useful individuals during their retirement years, older workers need to recognize and resolve some of the basic problems that will occur following retirement and that, to the extent that an individual understands what

retirement will mean and makes advance plans for meeting it, he will be more capable of handling these problems as they arise (32).

A somewhat opposing point of view has been postulated by Cumming and Henry (28) when they proposed their disengagement theory as an explanation for retirement. seemed to them that human aging involves an inevitable withdrawal from interaction with others and that this withdrawal from interaction is associated with important changes in the individual. They view this withdrawal process as being both social and psychological; the individual gradually withdraws from society in his attempt to free himself from the strains and difficulties of keeping pace with society. Society, in turn, tends to disengage or exclude the older person as it makes room for the younger and more vigorous According to this disengagement theory, the disengagement process thus becomes a mutual one, i.e., the individual expects and accepts it and society, in turn, presents it as an accepted part of growing chronologically older. Further, the disengagement theory makes no implications of whether such an approach is good or bad but merely an accepted way of society. A willingness to voluntarily retire from work is viewed as a good example of the disengagement theory.

Maddox (59), however, found no empirical support for the

general proposition that industrial workers are ready to disengage at age 65 and that, when age is held constant among older persons the disengagement theory is an oversimplified one.

Although there are many ways in which organized society can assist older persons in making this adjustment, the various activities undertaken to deal with this situation are still fragmentary and lacking in coordination. Little is being done, either by individuals or by organizations to facilitate systematic and organized planning for the adjustment to a new way of living, thus leaving the individual ill-prepared for a full and rich retirement.

It would seem that modern day society has a forced phase in life that can appropriately be termed the <u>leisure time</u>. However, the term "leisure" must be used with caution. The necessity for such caution results from the attempt to define exactly what is meant by the term. Parker (74, p. 20) states the following:

One of the chief problems of defining leisure is that it is very difficult to take an objective approach to the subject. Perhaps even more than in the case of work, the way in which someone defines leisure tends to be determined by his view of what it ought to be. There is an element of this even in the kind of definition which sees leisure as that part of time left over after work and perhaps also after other obligations have been met, because the judgment of where work leaves off and leisure begins is usually a subjective one.

Recognizing the problem of defining leisure, but in the interest of this research study, leisure is viewed as being indicative of retirement, i.e., that phase in one's life when he leaves full time employment; that time when perhaps for the first time in his life he is free to do what he wants to do for himself. It is finally his chance to develop all his potentials in all areas in which he might have potentials.

With this in mind, leisure is then viewed as an activity. It is "...the pursuit of truth, an understanding of ourselves as living beings, of the societies we have constructed, and of the physical world in which we find ourselves. Leisure, in its truest sense, is an act of aesthetic, psychological, religious and philosophical contemplation: a category of activity almost entirely missing from American life today" (56, p. 21).

If indeed leisure is indicative of retirement, and retirement in turn is to be viewed as the period in one's life which is the "good life" or the "leisure years", it is necessary to realize that in the modern day American society, there is almost no concept of educating people for such a life in their leisure years. It is not even known whether people can accept leisure as a way of life. Present day society is on the threshold of a time when leisure is possible for nearly all people, and very little is being done

to prepare them for this new dimension of human life (56).

One kind of start at developing an educational concept for preparing people for retirement was made on June 1, 1967, when Drake University in cooperation with the United States Department of Labor put into operation the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center at Des Moines, Iowa.

This educational endeavor tends to be substantiated through Wray's (95) model of viewing life in three distinct phases. An overview of his model points out that the first phase of life is used for becoming trained and educated (developing into maturity) for the purpose of becoming gainfully employed; the second phase of life. He points out that there exists a bridge to assist in the process from phase one of development to phase two of becoming gainfully employed, namely, educational institutions.

The third phase of the model indicates that for the most part, there is a total lack of assistance from the second phase of being gainfully employed to the third phase of retirement. This becomes especially important if the third phase of life--retirement--is to be viewed as a period of in one's life that presents the individual the opportunity of living a constructive and meaningful retirement for himself as well as society (95, p. 336).

To this end, the objective of the Pre-Retirement Planning Center has been to assist individuals within 10 to 15 years of retirement to evaluate and improve their potentials for productive activity after retiring from full-time employment.

Assessment of this objective was made through the use of an attitude scale designed specifically for use by the Pre-Retirement Planning Center, and the use of an activity involvement index, also designed specifically for use by the Center. Samples of these devices can be found in Appendices A and B. The use of the measurement devices and findings reported by the Center are explained in Chapters II and III.

As the initial program progressed, the Center implemented an educational program for representatives of business, industry and other agencies personnel to assume many of the functions and the Center's role is gradually changing from one of direct involvement with pre-retirees to one of technical assistance to organizational representatives.

For this reason this study becomes pertinent. In order for business, industry, and other agencies to effectively carry out pre-retirement planning programs in their respective organizations, or, for that matter, whether such type organizations should even offer pre-retirement planning programs to employees or members, it is necessary

to know whether pre-retiree participation in such planning programs has any "carry-over" value between the time of participation and the time when the pre-retiree becomes retired.

The first step in such a determination is the establishment of a longitudinal comparison of attitudes and activity involvement of persons who have completed a pre-retirement planning program. Additionally, persons included in such a study should have reached and celebrated their sixty-fifth birthday, the generally accepted and arbitrarily established age of retirement; hence, the purpose of this study.

Statement of the Purpose and Hypotheses

It was the purpose of this study to compare the attitudes toward retirement and activity involvement of people who have completed the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center's sessions on pre-retirement planning with their reported attitudes toward retirement and activity involvement upon reaching age 65 or older.

Three hypotheses were involved:

 There will be a sustained significant attitude change toward retirement and that change will be in a positive direction.

- 2. It is possible to predict an individual's post program attitude as a result of participating in a preretirement planning program.
- There will be a reported significant increase in activity involvement.

Definition of Terms

The following terms are significant and require special consideration:

<u>Pre-retiree</u> is an individual who is usually between the ages of 50 and 65 and has not yet started to draw social security or comparable retirement benefits. Such a person is usually still gainfully employed.

Retiree is an individual who is usually age 65 or older and has started drawing social security or comparable retirement benefits. Such a person is usually no longer gainfully employed.

Attitude is used to denote the sum total of an individual's inclinations and feelings, prejudice or bias, preconceived notions, ideas, fears, threats, and convictions about retirement.

Activity involvement is used to denote some type or kind of involvement in an activity that is usually considered to result in the betterment of one's life. Generally, such

activities considered are legal planning, financial planning, health planning, welfare planning, role-defining activities, and continuing education activities.

Sources of Data

Data for this study were collected from the participant files of the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center. The data were selected from the year 1967 through the year 1972. A direct mailing was made during the winter 1973-1974 to selected previous program participants. Specifically:

- Data reflecting change in attitude toward retirement through pre- and post-testing utilizing the Perceived Self Attitude Scale, developed by Pre-Retirement Planning Center staff.
- 2. Data relating to activity involvements were taken from participant "Confidential Descriptive Data Sheets" and on an activity involvement index, both developed by Pre-Retirement Planning Center staff.
- 3. Descriptive data such as age, sex marital status, education, etc., were taken from each participant's "Confidential Descriptive Data Sheet". This form was developed by Pre-Retirement Planning Center staff.

Delimitations and Scope

The delimitations and scope of this study included the following:

- This study was confined to persons who had participated in the seven session pre-retirement planning programs conducted by the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center.
- 2. This study is only concerned with those previous participants who were age 65 or older as of January 1, 1974.

Organization of the Study

The content of this study is organized into six chapters.

The first chapter contains an Introduction, a Statement of
the Problem and Hypotheses, Definition of Terms, Sources of
Data, Delimitations and Scope and Organization of the Study.

The second chapter includes a Review of Literature and Related Research. This includes literature that relates to the origination of pre-retirement planning programs, trends in pre-retirement education, and research in pre-retirement programs.

Chapter III presents the procedures and methodology used in this study.

Chapter IV reports the findings of the study.

Chapter V submits the conclusions and recommendations.

Chapter VI presents a summary of this study.

CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE AND RELATED RESEARCH Introduction

Concern over the steadily widening gap created by increasing longevity and the decreasing number of working years, is of relatively recent origin (53). Of even more recent origin is the notion of preparing oneself, through systematic pre-planning, for the retirement years. Understandably, literature concerning pre-retirement planning is sparse. Literature and research concerning attitudinal changes and participant planning activities undertaken by program participants, is exceedingly sparse.

Of the extremely limited research, there have been few programs pertinent to pre-retirement. Even though such programs go under such titles as Preparation for Retirement, Pre-Retirement Counseling, Pre-Retirement Education, Retirement Planning, most seem to be concerned primarily with those persons who have already retired.

Types of Programs

For the most part, programs concerned with pre-retirement planning, i.e., planning for one's retirement prior to that retirement, have utilized one of two approaches to the consideration of retirement contingencies. One such approach is the individual approach. Through use of this method, the

employee, and on occasion his spouse, is extended the invitation to talk over such things as terminal pay, pension benefits, insurance, etc. with his employer. The second approach is the group approach in which a group of employees congregate at one time to discuss retirement planning with their employer. In addition to these approaches, pre-retirement programs have sometimes been classified according to being concerned with specifics, i.e., the special and immediate problems of retirement planning such as finances, living arrangements, health, etc. and finally those that possibly could be called a general education for living (32, p. 14).

Little is known of the origination of the individual type program except that early surveys have indicated that several companies had such programs prior to 1950. And then the efforts of these programs were largely confined to only the development of a pension plan.

Origination of group type retirement planning programs was through the efforts of the University of Michigan, which initiated a program in 1948, and the University of Chicago which initiated a program in 1951.

These first two attempts at developing educationally oriented programs were geared primarily to persons most of whom had already retired. For the most part, such programs were based on the supposition that as a person grows older

he faces certain crises or problems. As such, if the person can gain a greater understanding of such problem situations, then, he should be able to make a better adjustment during later years. This emphasis on problems of older people is not unintentional. Early studies showed a wide range of problems of the aged—lower income, decreasing physical vigor and health, inadequate housing, increase in leisure time, social isolation, and an apparent lack of opportunity in a society which places a low premium on the older person (53).

As a result of the early leadership provided by the above mentioned universities, other universities followed suit. In 1963 the University of Rhode Island started a program titled "Preparing for Retirement" (67). In addition to universities, public school adult education departments, government agencies, libraries, Y.M.C.A.'s and churches, as well as an increasing number of industries, are now offering a multitude of kinds of pre-retirement programs (50, p. 6).

If any conclusion can be drawn from such meager information, it would be that at least interest is increasing in providing some information to those who are about to retire.

Trends in Pre-Retirement Education

Since 1950 there have been a number of pre-retirement education surveys taken. It seems that the unfortunate characteristic concerning these surveys was the difference in the sample of companies studied and perhaps more important the definition of what composed preparation for retirement. One survey studied the prevalence of programs in labor organizations. Some of the surveys described company programs in local communities or regions.

In 1950 the Equitable Life Assurance Society (36) surveyed 355 companies. Their results indicated that 13 percent had pre-retirement programs of one kind or another. In 1952 Tuckman and Lorge (90) presented results from a survey of 70 of the largest corporations in the country that represented a total work force of 2.5 million persons. The survey revealed that 37 percent of the companies had some type of pre-retirement program. The most significant finding of this survey was that the majority of respondents that had programs in operation covered only financial preparation and related factors of insurance, hospitalization and surgical benefits. Very little attention was given to physical aspects of aging, leisure time activities, and the like.

Hewitt and Associates (48) also made a survey in 1952.

This survey included 657 companies with a total work force of 2.5 million. It showed that the individual interview method was used more often than any other and that most of these interviews emphasized only pension benefits.

One of the larger surveys was made in 1954 by the National Industrial Conference Board (68). This survey studied 327 companies with a combined work force of 4.1 million employees. These people were asked, "Does your company have any kind of pre-retirement counseling?", of which 65.4 percent responded that their respective companies did.

Several other surveys were reviewed but all indicated essentially the same thing, that most companies admit they counsel their employees prior to retirement but mostly only in the area of company benefits to an employee after he retires.

The most recent survey research that was found was conducted by Bowman (11). The purpose of the 1970 survey was to collect information about what other organizations were doing in the area of pre-retirement planning programs and to compare such information with the activities of the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center.

The following categories comprised the sources from which the survey information was collected:

- 1. The 50 largest corporations in the United States.
- 2. The 45 largest banks in the United States.
- 3. The 10 largest cities in the United States.
- 4. All organized labor groups with membership in excess of 200,000.
- 5. All 50 state governments.
- 6. Selected universities and colleges.
- 7. Selected professional, religious, and charitable organizations.

A total of 201 organizations were contacted, of which 138 responded. Of the 138 responding, only 9 approached the criteria for program development established by the Pre-Retirement Planning Center, i.e., only 9 organizations provided information that indicated they provided the pre-retiree with materials and information that dealt with more than just planning for financial security.

It was the general conclusion of the survey that if indeed what large organizations were doing was in turn representative of what most organizations, large and small, were
doing, then very little was being done relative to preretirement planning. This conclusion appears to remain
valid at the time of this writing.

Based on these surveys one can make tentative conclusions about pre-retirement education trends:

- Development of pre-retirement programs is relatively recent and closely parallels the increase in number of pensions following World War II.
- Large industries more often offer pre-retirement services than do the smaller ones.
- 3. There has been an increase in the number of preretirement programs since World War II with the individual approach predominating.
- 4. Current programs exhibit extreme variability in content as well as method and there is little, if indeed any, effort to control the quality of programs or to evaluate results.

Although certain trends may be observed from the various surveys, very little is actually known about the prevalence of specific kinds of pre-retirement programs in American industry (50).

Research in Pre-Retirement Programs

In the process of reviewing the literature, one must concur with Hunter that a review of pre-retirement education literature reveals that most of it presents either descriptive information or makes subjective estimates of the results of pre-retirement education (50, p. 12). There are very few items of pre-retirement education research in which objective type results are presented to show effects of participation

in programs. However, the following are felt to merit consideration.

In 1957, Hunter (52) conducted a study of 73 hourly-rated employees whose ages ranged from 60 to 65 years. These persons were employed by three Niagara Falls, New York industries. Data were obtained both before and after participation in a pre-retirement education program in order to study change as a result of retirement attitudes, retirement planning information, plans for retirement, and plans put into action. The conclusion was that significant changes took place in each of the areas investigated except in the area of retirement attitudes.

In 1958, Mack (58) attempted to evaluate the effectiveness of pre-retirement education programs. She combined data
for 281 subjects who participated in 16 different programs
in the Chicago area. The age range was from 55 to 82 years
with the majority age between 60-65. Various occupational
levels were represented with the skilled and white-collar
levels being over represented. Each participant filled out
a "Retirement Planning Inventory" at both the first and final
sessions of the program. The conclusion reached was that
the program reduced fear and increased positive attitudes
toward retirement. Also, there was evidence of increased
constructive planning for retirement and that the programs
effected desirable behavior changes in retirement preparation.

The State of Minnesota, Department of Public Welfare, presented a pilot project, "Planning the Years Ahead," in 1959 (85). The program was presented to 50 persons ranging in ages from 59 to 70 years. At the last session a selfevaluation questionnaire was passed out to each participant in attendance (43 out of the total 50). An analysis of the questionnaire responses revealed that for the most part the program was considered very rewarding by the participants. Fewer than a fifth had done much planning before taking part in the series. All indicated that the sessions had been more helpful than they had anticipated. A number of participants indicated that their attitudes toward their own retirement were improved. Many said they were helped to see the importance of planning and some were started on the way toward making realistic plans. A number of participants pointed out that they had known little about the many community resources available to them.

The next study of significance was performed and reported by Burgess (19) in 1960. He reported results of a two year research project which compared changes in attitudes toward retirement among 200 participants in a preretirement discussion program as against changes in attitudes among a matched group of subjects with no exposure to a program. The critical test was a statistical t, pre-post

analysis of the program. The highest gains that resulted from the program were in retirement planning, financial planning, retirement anticipation, and retirement living. There was little doubt that successful adjustments to these four areas were practical conditions to a satisfactory retirement. He further reported that only moderate gains appeared in those categories of less practical and more psychological nature, such as retirement attitudes, social adjustment, and mental outlook.

Another interesting study was conducted by Walker (92) in cooperation with the Tennessee Valley Authority Preparation for Retirement Program. This study concerned approximately 700 eligible persons from age 60 to 70 years. study dealt not only with 500 persons who participated but with a portion of approximately 30 percent of eligible employees who did not participate. The difference between the two groups with respect to attitude toward retirement was especially significant. Walker concluded that the nonparticipant group members were almost wholly negative in their attitudes toward retirement and were merely drifting toward a dreaded cessation of employment. He further found that most of the employees that had participated had developed a wholesome and optimistic view of retirement. He concluded that the most important finding of the evaluation study was an apparent and favorable change in the attitudes of participating older employees toward their retirement.

The most recent research found that particularly concerns pre-retirement attitude change was conducted at the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center. The first such study was made by McCannon (62). The study was conducted through the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center and involved 95 participants. His study examined the relationship of individual attitudes and adjustment prior to and at the conclusion of participation in the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center's seven week program. He also investigated the differences in individual's scores between the perceived self-concept and the ideal self-concept. By applying a statistical t-test of significance to the difference between the means, it was shown that there was a significant increase in positive change in both attitude and adjustment toward retirement as a result of participation and involvement in a formal pre-retirement planning program.

In 1969, a study was conducted by Bowman (8) to attempt to determine the age level at which formal pre-retirement planning results in greatest attitude and adjustment change. Data were collected on 214 people between the ages 50 to 65, inclusive. The subjects were grouped according to age into one-year and two-year intervals. A t-test of significance was applied to the differences between mean scores between

the perceived self-concept and the ideal self-concept as measured by the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale and the Pre-Retirement Ideal Self Attitude Scale, both designed specifically for use by the Pre-Retirement Planning Center. The scale was administered prior to and upon completion of the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center program. It was discovered that the greatest positive change in attitude toward retirement occurred at age level 56-57.

This review of previous pre-retirement programs has revealed that prior to the McCannon and Bowman studies, evaluations of attitude and adjustment change toward retirement were primarily based on value judgments rather than from evidence. For the first time, through the use of the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale it became possible to statistically determine pre-retirement attitude change.

CHAPTER III. METHODS OF PROCEDURE

The methods of procedure employed in this study was of a longitudinal nature. This is to say that it studied the same group of people over a period of time.

A pre-retirement planning program was developed for employees of several organizations and community-at-large members of Des Moines, Iowa. The program was conducted for the first time at the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center in the fall of 1967.

Since the beginning of the Pre-Retirement Planning Center in 1967, and through to January 1, 1974, there has been nearly 4,000 participants in pre-retirement planning programs. The criteria used to select subjects for this investigation involved the following:

- 1. Selection from past participants of all who were age 65 or older as of January 1, 1974.
- 2. Must have taken the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale upon completion of the pre-retirement planning program and/or
- 3. Must have completed the Pre-Retirement Planning Center Activity Involvement Index (an integral part of the Confidential Descriptive Data Sheet administered at the beginning of the program).

Rationale for the Study

The fundamental purpose of pre-retirement planning programs is to change negative attitudes toward retirement as well as to encourage involvement in various activities (32).

The basis for this general premise originated from a review of the literature that was available prior to the establishment of the Pre-Retirement Planning Center in June 1967. The conclusion drawn from this review of literature seemed to indicate that among already retired individuals, the two most evidential areas contributing to a determination of the "goodness" or "badness" of being retired were the areas of attitude toward retirement and involvement in various kinds of activities. It seemed logical, then, to specify the general purpose of the Pre-Retirement Planning Center as having been established so as to help individuals who were within 10 to 15 years of retirement to identify, test, and improve their potentials for productive activity after the period of full-time, regular employment had passed.

From this base the hypothesis generated for operation of the Center was that satisfactory retirement depends on the retiree's replacing work roles with other roles acceptable to him and society. The proposed evaluation procedures established to test this hypothesis were (1) pre- and post-program attitude testing, (2) measures of correlation between

activities involvement and personal characteristics of participants, and (3) the number and kinds of activities a preretiree was involved in before participation and the number and kinds of activities the pre-retiree became involved in after participation in a pre-retirement planning program.

The measuring instruments designed to accomplish these evaluations were the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale, the Confidential Descriptive Data Sheet and the Activity Involvement Index (item I on the Confidential Descriptive Data Sheet) respectively. Examples of these devices are presented in Appendix A and Appendix B respectively.

An additional statement must be made as regards the Confidential Descriptive Data Sheet. Although no correlations between activity involvement and personal characteristics of participants were ever attempted, the items selected for the data sheet were felt to be the logical kinds of items required to adequately describe the participants as well as provide meaningful correlation data should ever the occasion arise to do so. Item I (activity index) was comprised of those activities that had been identified as those activities if one were to become involved in them—that would result in the betterment of one's life.

Data collected on past participants then consisted of pre- and post-program attitudes as measured by the Pre- Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale and personal

characteristics and activity involvements as collected from the Confidential Descriptive Data Sheet.

Therefore, the rationale in this present study was to evaluate the Pre-Retirement Planning Center through the utilization of existing data as well as collecting updated data through the use of the established measurement and data collecting devices in use by the Center.

To this end it was felt that the results from such an evaluation that involved persons who had experienced preretirement planning programs as pre-retirees and were now identified as being in post-retirement, would provide a foundation from which a determination of effectiveness of pre-retirement planning programs could be made. To this point in time, such an attempt has not been undertaken.

It would therefore seem that if such attitudes and activity involvements seemingly caused by participation in a pre-retirement planning program as a pre-retiree are to be of value, such value should be of a lasting nature.

For this reason this study becomes pertinent. In order for business, industry, and other agencies to effectively carry out pre-retirement planning programs in their respective organizations, or, for that matter, whether such types of organizations should even offer pre-retirement planning programs to employees or members, it would appear necessary to know whether pre-retiree participation in such

planning programs has any "carry-over" value between the time of participation and the time when the pre-retiree enters the post-retirement years. It seems logical that the first step in such a determination is the establishment of a longitudinal comparison of attitudes and activity involvement of persons who have completed a pre-retirement planning program at Drake University and are now identified as living in post-retirement.

Development of Program

With few exceptions, formal systems of higher education provide training in the manipulation of symbols rather than of things; reliance on thinking rather than of feeling; and commitment to understanding rather than to action. This model was felt to be inappropriate for pre-retirement planning. As much as possible, the program at the Pre-Retirement Planning Center was designed as a flexible action-oriented and experience based learning model which is less intellectual and more emotionally involved. The basic purpose was to change negative attitudes, and to motivate the participants to make intelligent and knowledgeable decisions that will lead to a satisfactory and creative retirement (32).

Inasmuch as the above model provides the learning base for pre-retirement planning programs, the objectives of such

programs then became:

- 1. To facilitate legal and financial planning
- 2. To facilitate health and welfare planning
- 3. To involve pre-retirees in role-defining activities
- 4. To involve pre-retirees in continuing education.

Specifically, in order to facilitate thought, discussion, and planning in those areas of greatest interest and concern surrounding the problems of retirement, these four major areas were established for coverage by each pre-retiree group.

Meetings were scheduled for two-hour sessions, once a week for a period of seven weeks. Generally, the size of any one group was not greater than 30 persons or less than 15 persons.

The sequence of various sessions within a seven session program had been extensive and varied but the following sequence represents the one considered as being generally most satisfactory. It includes the four subject areas implied by the objectives of a pre-retirement planning program in a sequence that began with a general orientation to the program and proceeded to raise the major issues of retirement. The program moved to the areas of finance, the area of most immediate concern to pre-retirees, and was followed by issues of health and welfare and ended with planning for post-retirement activities.

The general sequence of the program in which persons selected for this study participated is as follows:

- 1. Introduction and Orientation
- 2. Changing Roles
- 3. Financial
- 4. Financial Health and Welfare
- 5. Financial Health and Welfare
- 6. Continuing Education
- 7. Changing Roles.

The following examples are indicative of areas of discussion and planning within each of the subject areas:

- Legal and financial planning subject areas were budgeting, wills, life insurance, estate planning, investments, social security, and fringe benefits.
- 2. Health and welfare planning subject areas were housing, health insurance, health examination, nutrition and dietary requirements, medicare, and recreation.
- 3. Role-defining activity subject areas were psychological aspects of aging, avocations, vocations, part-time employment, community and service organizations, and leisure time use.
- 4. Continuing education activity subject areas were various educational activities available within

the community, hobbies, reading, adult education, and university evening courses.

A detailed seven-session program outline is presented in Appendix C.

Description of Population

The design of this study called for selection of all previous participants in pre-retirement planning programs who were age 65 or older as of January 1, 1974. If this criterion was met, final selection was based on each person having taken the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale after their completion of the program, and/or each person having completed the Pre-Retirement Planning Center Activity Involvement Index. The Activity Involvement Index was an integral part of the Confidential Descriptive Data Sheet filled out by each attendee at the beginning of the seven-session program.

The final selection resulted in a total N of 300 persons who met the required conditions for being included in the study. A direct mailing was then made to all 300 persons. Mailing to one group consisted of copies of the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale and the Activity Involvement Index as well as a checklist to indicate whether they considered themselves retired. not retired, semi-retired, or other. The N for this group was 102 persons.

The mailing to the remainder of those selected for the study included a copy of the Activity Involvement Index and the checklist for determining retirement status. The N for this group was 198.

A second mailing was made three weeks after the initial mailing for the purpose of soliciting a higher return. After an additional two weeks, a number of persons were contacted by telephone and requested to return their respective forms.

Of the 102 persons who received the attitude scale and activity index, 6 had died, 13 had moved leaving no forwarding address, 8 returned the activity index but refused to return the attitude scale, 3 were returned that were not useable, 31 did not respond. Total useable attitude scales returned provided an N of 41.

Of the 198 persons receiving only the activity index,
55 did not respond, 3 had died, 10 had moved and left no
forwarding address, and 6 refused to participate. The returned useable indices were 124. The combined total number
of Activity Involvement Index forms that were used in the
analyses was 165. Of these 165 respondents 133 categorized
themselves as retired, 21 said they were semi-retired, 9
stated they were not retired, and 2 specified "other" but
failed to specify the reason for checking this category.

Table 1 reflects descriptive information on the

Table 1. Characteristics of study population according to selected personal factors at time of participation in a pre-retirement planning program

		Number	ક
1.	Age:		
	a. 55-64	217	72.3
	b. 65-74	79	26.4
	c. 75-84	3	0.9
	d. 85-94	1	0.3
2.	Sex:		
	a. Male	138	46.0
	b. Female	162	54.0
3.	Marital Status:		
	a. Single	25	8.3
	b. Married	212	70.7
	c. Separated	2	0.7
	d. Divorced	12	4.0
	e. Widowed	48	16.0
	f. Missing data	1	0.3
4.	Veteran:		
	a. Yes	17	5.7
	b. No	150	50.0
	c. Missing data	133	44.3
5.	Education:		
	a. K-6 years	4	1.3
	b. 7-9	19	6.3
	c. 10-12 d. 13-16	157	52.3
	<pre>d. 13-16 e. Other</pre>	73 24	31.0 8.0
	f. Missing data	3	1.0
	i. Hissing data	3	1.0
6.	Employment Status:		45.6
	a. Professional, managerial, technical	137	45.6
	b. Clerical, sales, service	67	22.3
	c. Industriald. Housewife	17 3 9	5.7 13.0
	e. Other	3 9 38	12.7
	f. Missing data	2	0.7
	Induting dutu	2	U • 1

Table 1 (Continued)

		Number	ક્ર
7.	Current Income:		
	a. 0-3,999	72	24.0
	b. 4,000-7,999	96	32.0
	c. 8,000-11,999	70	23.3
	d. 12,000-15,999	24	8.0
	e. 16,000-over	13	4.3
	f. Missing data	25	8.3
8.	Participate in Pension Plan:		
	a. Yes	163	54.3
	b. No	101	33.7
	c. Missing data	36	12.0
9.	Length in Pension Plan:		
	a. 1-9 years	31	10.3
	b. 10-19	36	12.0
	c. 20-29	39	13.0
	d. 30-39	19	5.3
	e. 40-49	4	1.3
	f. Missing data	171	57.0
10.	Need for Employment After Retirement:		
	a. Full time	4	1.3
	b. Part time	9 3	31.0
	c. No need	75	25.0
	d. Missing data	128	42.7

characteristics of the total population of 300 at the time of their participation in a pre-retirement planning program.

Appendix D presents the coding used for regression classification variables.

Selection of Measuring Instruments

Two measuring devices have been created for use by the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center. Each are utilized in this study. The first is the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale devised by Dr. James Dugger (34), who was psychological consultant to the Pre-Retirement Planning Center from 1967 to 1969.

The Dugger scale is a self-report scaling instrument used to measure participant attitude toward retirement. The scale is in booklet form and contains 100 statements, 26 of which reflect attitudes toward retirement. The individual is asked to mark the items into three metrics, "like me", "unlike me", and "don't know". The 26 items tapping attitudes toward retirement center around the five areas that are generally recognized as those one should have when he retires: (1) good health, (2) adequate income, (3) pleasant home and surroundings, (4) something satisfying to occupy his time, and (5) congenial companions.

Of the 26 items reflecting attitudes toward retirement, thirteen are negative items and thirteen are positive. The negative items are scored plus (+) if placed in the "unlike me" column, and minus (-) if placed in the "like me" column. Conversely, the positive items are scored plus (+) if the participant marks the "like me" column, and minus (-) if he

4

marks the "unlike me" column. The 26 items measuring attitude (1, 3, 8, 10, 14, 17, 20, 21, 24, 30, 21, 34, 39, 45, 46, 48, 57, 58, 60, 66, 81, 82, 87, 89, 92, and 93) are scored using a template overlay. Items are scored only if they are marked in the "like me" or "unlike me" column. Items remain invariant if the "don't know" column is marked. A perfect attitude toward retirement, as measured by the Dugger Scale, would be reflected in a score of +26. The complete scale is presented in Appendix A.

The second measuring device is the Activity Involvement
Index devised by the Pre-Retirement Planning Center staff
to measure the number of independent planning activities undertaken by participants during the year previous to their
participating in a seven-session pre-retirement planning program.

The Activity Involvement Index is an integral part of the Confidential Descriptive Data Sheet and is a self-report check-list. The index consists of 17 items or activities. Each participant was asked to mark any number of the activities listed about which he had sought information or in which he had become involved during the year previous to his participation.

The activities listed on the index are arranged to coincide with the Pre-Retirement Planning Center's four major areas of emphasis, i.e., legal and financial planning, health

and welfare planning, role defining activities, and continuing education.

Items on the Activity Involvement Index are scored plus only if they are marked. The greatest degree of involvement reported by any one participant would be reflected in a score of +17, the lowest attainable score would be achieved when no items are marked, and is scored 0. The Activity Involvement Index is identified as Item I on the Confidential Descriptive Data Form and is presented in Appendix B.

CHAPTER IV. FINDINGS

The purpose of this study was to compare the attitudes toward retirement and activity involvement of people who have completed the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center's sessions on pre-retirement planning with their reported attitudes toward retirement and activity involvement upon reaching age 65 or older. The findings of this study are based upon results obtained by analyses of observations on selected criteria of 165 previous program participants.

Specifically, the null hypotheses tested were:

- 1. There is no sustained significant attitude change in a positive direction toward retirement.
- 2. No significant prediction of a person's postprogram attitude can be made using a regression equation.
- 3. There is no reported significant increase in activity involvement.

The findings of the study are reported in sequence of the three stated hypotheses.

The analysis of data relating to Hypothesis 1 was by use of a correlated t-test for significance between pre- and post-attitude scores for the total group and against the selected classification variables of sex and participation in a pension plan.

A pooled variance t-test for significance was used for comparing males with females on pre- and post-attitude scores

and participants in a pension plan with nonparticipants in a pension plan on a pre- and post-attitude score.

From the distribution of demographic data collected on the 41 persons meeting the criteria established for analyses of Hypothesis 1, only sex and participation in a pension plan provided sufficient N's for consideration. To insure statistically adequate cell frequencies for all demographic variables would have necessitated collapsing of categories. It was determined that too much data would be lost if this approach were taken with the resulting analyses being meaningless.

The analysis of data relating to Hypothesis 2 is by use of multiple regression using selected classification variables: age, sex, marital status, education, employment level, annual income, participation in a pension plan, total Activity Involvement Index items checked, with the post-program attitude score on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale being the criterion variable.

The analysis of data relating to Hypothesis 3, which included an N of 165, is by use of a correlated t-test for significance between pre-program activities and post-program activities against the total and selected classification variables of sex and participation in a pension plan. Also, a pooled variance t-test for significance was used for comparing males with females on pre- and post-program activities

and participants in a pension plan with nonparticipants in a pension plan on pre- and post-attitude scores.

From the distribution of demographic data collected on the 165 persons meeting the criteria established for analyses of Hypothesis 3, only sex and participation in a pension plan provided sufficient N's for consideration.

Null Hypothesis 1:

There is no sustained significant attitude change in a positive direction toward retirement.

Tables 2 through 6 contain the analyses of data by use of the correlated t-test for significance between pre- and post-attitude scores in relation to the total group and the classification variables of sex and participation in a pension plan.

Tables 7 and 8 contain the analyses of data by use of the pooled variance t-test for significance for comparing males with females between pre- and post-attitude scores and for comparing participants in a pension plan program with non-participants in a pension plan program between pre- and post-attitude scores.

Table 2 presents the composite comparison of scores obtained on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Attitude Scale in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test. No statistically significant figures can be reported on the sustaining of a significant positive change in attitude toward

Table 2. Comparison of scores obtained on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test: composite N=41

	Mean	S.D.	t
Pre-test	12.098	5.417	0.19
Post-test	11.927	6.616	

Table 3. Comparison of scores obtained on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test: males N=29

	Mean	S.D.	t	
Pre-test	13.035	4.851	0.45	
Post-test	12.552	6.977		

Table 4. Comparison of scores obtained on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test: Semales N=12

	Mean	S.D.	V.
Pre-test	9.833	6.235	~C.37
Post-test	10.417	5.632	

Table 5. Comparison of scores obtained on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test: participation in a pension plan N=25

	Mean	S.D.	t
Pre-test	13.400	4.481	-1.14
Post-test	14.440	5.108	

Table 6. Comparison of scores obtained on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test: no participation in a pension plan N=14

	Mean	S.D.	t	
Pre-test	9.214	6.216	0.70	
Post-test	7.929	7.437		

Table 7. Comparison of scores obtained on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale in a pre- and post-test manner between male and female using the pooled t-test: male N=29, female N=12

	Mean	S.D.	t	
Pre-test				
Male	13.035	4.851	1.77	
Female	9.833	6.235		
Post-test				
Male	12.552	6.977	0.94	
Female	10.417	5.632		

Table 8. Comparison of scores obtained on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale in a pre- and post-test manner between those participating in a pension plan and those not participating in a pension plan: participation N=25, no participation N=14

Mean	S.D.	t
13.400	4.481	2.43**
9.214	6.216	
14.440	5.108	3.24***
7.929	7.437	
	13.400 9.214 14.440	13.400 4.481 9.214 6.216 14.440 5.108

^{**}P<.01.

retirement.

Table 3 presents the comparison of scores in a pre- and post-test manner utilizing the correlated t-test and is concerned only with males. There was no statistically significant difference between the pre-test scores and post-test scores for males.

Table 4 presents the comparison of scores in a preand post-test manner using the correlated t-test and is concerned only with females. There was no statistically significant difference between the pre-test scores and posttest scores for females. However, the females mean difference did increase between the pre-test and post-test
whereas this was not the case with the males. The change in

^{***} P<.001.

mean difference was in the desired direction (post-test mean was higher than the pre-test mean). However, it was not a large enough change to be statistically significant.

Table 5 presents the comparison of scores in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test relative to those persons who specified participation in a pension plan. Although there was no significant difference between the pre-test scores and the post-test scores, the mean difference between the pre-tween the pre-test and post-test was in a desired direction. However, the difference was not a large enough change to be statistically significant.

Table 6 presents the comparison of scores in a preand post-test manner using the correlated t-test relative to those persons who indicated no participation in a pension plan. There was no statistically significant difference between the pre-test scores and the post-test scores.

Table 7 presents the comparison of scores obtained on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale in a pre- and post-test manner between male and female using the pooled t-test. There is no statistically significant difference between males and females relative to pre-test scores and post-test scores. However, the post-test male and female mean difference is less than the pre-test male and female mean difference. The reason for this was because the post-test means for the males was lower than the pre-test mean, while

the opposite was true for the females. But on both the pre-test and post-test the males had the higher mean scores.

Table 8 presents the comparison of scores in a pre- and post-test manner between those persons participating in a pension plan and those not participating in a pension plan by using a pooled t-test for significance. In both instances the mean difference between groups on the pre-test and between groups on the post-test scores was statistically significant. Groups that participated in pension plans had a higher mean on both pre-test and post-test. However, it is pointed out that even though there was significance relative to the above classification variables, the composite comparison of scores obtained on the Pre-Retirement Perceived Attitude Scale showed no significance (see Table 2).

Therefore, it can be concluded on the basis of the analyses, that Null Hypothesis 1 fails to be rejected. There was no statistical evidence to support the hypothesis that there would be a sustained positive change in attitude toward retirement as measured by the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale.

Null Hypothesis 2:

No significant prediction of a person's post-program attitude can be made using a regression equation.

Table 9 presents the correlation matrix of selected classification variables used in running a multiple regression in the attempt to determine if there existed an equation that could be used for predicting a person's post-program attitude toward retirement.

Table 10 presents a summary of the multiple regression of post-program attitude score on the classification variables of age, pension, marital status, employment position, activity involvement, annual income, sex, and education.

The computation of multiple regression resulted in an equation of the following form:

$$\hat{Y} = b_0 + b_1 X_1 + b_2 X_2 + b_3 X_3 + b_4 X_4 + b_5 X_5 + b_6 X_6$$

$$+ b_7 X_7 + b_8 X_8.$$

Substituting B values from Table 10 for b's in the general form, the equation becomes

$$\hat{Y} = 59.9177 + (-0.6450)X_1 + (-2.0741)X_2 + (-1.8077)X_3$$

$$+ (-0.4962)X_4 + (-0.5229)X_5 + (0.2971)X_6$$

$$+ (-0.6180)X_7 + (0.1023)X_8,$$

Table 9. Correlation matrix of selected classification variables for post-program attitude toward retirement: N=41

	Age	Sex	Marital Status	Education	Employment Position	Annual Income	Pension	Activity Involvement	Post-test Attitude
Age	1.0000	0.2390	0.4614	0.0915	-0.1796	-0.0015	0.1512	0.1104	-0.4617
Sex	0.2389	1.0000	0.2245	-0.0425	0.0831	-0.4610	0.2951	-0.2196	-0.2722
Marital Status	0.4614	0.2245	1.0000	-0.1305	-0.0566	-0.1239	0.1631	-0.0293	-0.4483
Education	0.0915	-0.0425	-0.1305	1.0000	-0.2426	0.4764	-0.1925	0.4465	0.1123
Employment Position	-0.1796	0.0831	-0.0566	-0.2426	1.0000	.0.3622	0.1159	-0.2523	-0.1508
Annual Income	-0.0015	-0.4610	-0.1239	0.4764	-0.3622	1.0000	-0.3124	0.3674	0.2570
Pension	0.1512	0.2951	0.1631	-0.1923	0.1159	-0.3124	1.0000	0.0556	-0.3711
Activity Involve- ment	0.1104	-0.2196	-0.0293	0.4465	-0.2523	0.3674	0.0556	1.0000	-0.1012
Post-test Attitude	-0.4617	-0.2722	-0.4483	0.1123	-0.1508	0.2570	-0.3711	-0.1012	1.0000

Table 10. Summary of multiple regression of post-program attitude score on selected classification variables

Variable (in order of priority)	Cumulative R Square	R Square Change	В
Age	0.2132	0.2132	-0.6450
Pension	0.3061	0.0929	-2.0741
Marital Status	0.3609	0.0547	-1.8077
Employment Position	0.3975	0.0366	-0.4962
Activity Involvement	0.4100	0.0125	-0.5229
Annual			
Income	0.4266	0.0166	0.2971
Sex	0.4276	0.0010	-0.6180
Education	0.4293	0.0017	0.1023
Constant			59.9177

Where:

 $\hat{\mathbf{Y}}$ = post-program attitude score

 $x_1 = age$

 $X_2 = pension$

 $X_3 = marital status$

 $X_4 = employment position$

 X_5 = activity involvement

 $X_6 = annual income$

 $X_7 = sex$

 X_{R} = education

The overall F-value for the regression equation is 2.73 which exceeds the table F of 2.28 for 8 and 29 degrees of freedom. The equation is therefore significant at the .05 level. Also, it can be seen from the cumulative R-square factor in Table 10 that the value for R-square is 0.4293 which indicates that approximately 43 percent of the variance in post-administration of the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale has been explained.

Therefore, on the basis of the resultant analyses, Null Hypothesis 2 is rejected. There was statistically significant evidence reported to support the hypothesis that prediction of a person's post-program attitude score can be made by using this regression equation.

Null Hypothesis 3:

There is no reported significant increase in activity involvement.

Tables 11 through 15 contain the analyses of data by use of the correlated t-test for significance between pre-program activities and post-program activities when analyzed for the total group and for the classification variables of sex and participation in a pension plan.

Table 11. Comparison of scores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test: composite N=165

	Mean	S.D.	t
Pre-program	2.521	1.974	-3.74***
Post-retirement followup	3.273	2.548	

^{***}P<.001.

Table 12. Comparison of scores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test: males N=76

	Mean	S.D.	t
Pre-program	2.474	2.107	-1.44
Post-retirement followup	2.908	2.401	

Table 13. Comparison of scores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test: females N=89

	Mean	S.D.	t
Pre-program	2.562	1.864	-3.83***
Post-retirement followup	3.584	2.641	

^{***}p<.001.

Table 14. Comparison of scores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test: participation in a pension plan N=93

	Mean	S.D.	t
Pre-program	2.484	1.998	-1.67
Post-retirement followup	2.946	2.473	

Table 15. Comparison of scores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test: no participation in a pension plan N=55

	Mean	S.D.	t
Pre-program	2.855	1.976	-3.88***
Post-retirement followup	4.109	2.685	

^{***}P<.001.

Tables 16 and 17 contain the analyses of data by use of the pooled variance t-test for significance for comparing males with females between pre- and post-program activities and for comparing participants in a pension plan program with nonparticipants between pre- and post-program activities.

Table 16. Comparison of scores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index in a pre- and post-test manner between male and female using the pooled t-test: male N=76, female N=89

	Mean	S.D.	t
Pre-program			
Male	2.474	2.107	-0.28
Female	2.562	1.864	
Post-retirement follo	Wup		
Male	2.908	2.401	-1.71
Female	3.584	2.641	

Table 17. Comparison of :cores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index in a pre- and post-test manner between those participating in a pension plan and those not participating in a pension plan using the pooled t-test: participation N=93, no participation N=55

	Mean	S.D.	t
Pre-program			
Participation in	2.484	1.998	-1.10
No participation	2.855	1.976	
Post-retirement followup			
Participation in	2.946	2.473	-2.68**
No participation	4.109	2.685	

^{**} P<.01.

Table 11 presents the composite comparison of scores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test. There is statistical evidence to indicate a highly significant increase in activity involvement between the pre-program measure

and the post-retirement followup measure after the generally accepted age of retirement, i.e., age 65.

Table 12 presents the comparison of scores in a preand post-test manner using the correlated t-test and is concerned only with males. There was no significant difference between the pre-program activity involvement and the postretirement followup after age 65 activity involvement for males.

Table 13 presents the comparison of scores in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t and is concerned only with females. There is statistical evidence to indicate a highly significant increase in activity involvement for females between the pre-program measure and the post-retirement followup measure after the generally accepted age of retirement, i.e., age 65.

Table 14 presents the comparison of scores in a preand post-test manner using the correlated t-test relative to
those persons who specified participation in a pension plan.
Although there was no significant difference between the
pre-program scores and the post-retirement followup scores,
the mean difference between pre-program and post-retirement
followup was in the desired direction to indicate increased
activity involvement. However, the difference was not large
enough to yield significance.

Table 15 presents the comparison of scores in a pre- and post-test manner using the correlated t-test relative to those persons who indicated no participation in a pension plan.

There is presented statistical evidence to indicate a highly significant increase in activity involvement of those persons not participating in a pension plan between the pre-program activity score and the post-retirement followup activity score after the generally accepted age of retirement of 65.

Table 16 presents the comparison of scores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index in a pre- and post-test manner between male and female using the pooled t-test. There is no statistical evidence of significance between male and female relative to pre-program activity scores and post-retirement followup activity scores after the generally accepted age of retirement of 65.

Table 17 presents the comparison of scores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index in a pre- and post-test manner between those persons participating in a pension plan and those not participating in a pension plan by utilization of a pooled test for significance. Pre-program activity involvement scores showed no statistical evidence of significance. However, post-retirement followup activity involvement between those participating in a pension plan and those not participating in a pension plan was significant at the .01 level with the mean activity performance of the nonpartici-

pating group significantly higher.

Although not all comparisons revealed statistical significance, the composite comparison of pre- and post-scores obtained on the Activity Involvement Index was highly significant, i.e., the post-retirement followup mean was higher (see Table 11). Therefore, Null Hypothesis 3 is rejected. There was statistically significant evidence to support the hypothesis that there was a reported significant increase in activity involvement.

CHAPTER V. CONCLUSIONS, DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The purpose of this study was to compare the attitudes toward retirement and activity involvement of people who have completed the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center's sessions on pre-retirement planning with their reported attitudes toward retirement and activity involvement upon reaching age 65 or older. Specifically, the following null hypotheses were tested:

- 1. There is no sustained significant attitude change in a positive direction toward retirement.
- 2. No significant prediction of a person's postprogram attitude can be made using a regression equation.
- There is no reported significant increase in activity involvement.

The population for the study consisted of all previous participants in pre-retirement planning programs who were age 65 or older as of January 1, 1974. If this criterion was met, the final selection for participation in this study was based on each person having taken the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale after their completion of the program, and/or each person having completed the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center Activity Involvement Index. The

Activity Involvement Index was an integral part of the Confidential Descriptive Data sheet filled out by each participant at the beginning of the pre-retirement planning sessions.

There were 300 persons who met one or all conditions for inclusion in this study. Through the direct mailing process, the final population for analyses was 41 persons who returned the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale, and 165 persons who returned the Activity Involvement Index.

Conclusions

1. <u>Null Hypothesis 1</u> was not rejected at the .05 level of significance. It had previously been demonstrated that at the time of completion of a seven-session pre-retirement planning program, there was a highly statistically significant change in attitude toward retirement. The change was in a positive direction (32). However, as a result of this study, it can be concluded that a composite positive attitude change toward retirement as a result of participating in the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center's seven-session pre-retirement planning program was not sustained over a period of time, i.e., from participation in a program as a significant difference at the .01 level between the pre-test

participation in a pension plan and the pre-test no participation in a pension plan. On the post-test basis, not only was this significance upheld, but increased to the .001 level between the same classification variables. From the data presented in Table 8 it can be concluded that persons who participate in pension plans seem to retain and actually increase their positive attitude toward retirement. Furthermore, although no significance was found between pre-attitude and post-attitude for females, the mean difference did increase whereas there was no such directional change among males, from 9.833 to 10.417 for females as compared to 13.035 to 12.552 for males. The same trend existed among those persons who reported participation in a pension plan versus those who reported not participating in a pension plan, from 13.400 to 14.440 and 9.214 to 7.929 respectively.

- 2. Null Hypothesis 2 was rejected at the .05 level of significance. Therefore, it can be concluded that a statistically significant prediction of a persons post-program attitude can be made using a regression equation. Classification variables identified in order of priority for the regression equation were age, pension, marital status, employment position, activity involvement, annual income, sex, and education.
- 3. Null Hypothesis 3 was rejected at the .001 level of significance. Therefore, it can be concluded that there

is a statistically significant increase in activity involvement. Although there was not statistical significance in all instances of considering classification variables, in each consideration, the mean difference did increase between the pre-program reporting of activity involvement and the post-retirement followup after retirement reporting of activity involvement (see Tables 12 through 17).

Discussion

To assume that pre-retirement planning as a means of preparing an individual for retirement is necessary tends to be somewhat of an understatement. To suggest that research in the area of pre-retirement planning exists is an overstatement. It is hoped that this research study will, in some way, provide some direction in improving existing pre-retirement planning programs and strengthen the concept that such programs are indeed a necessity in order to lend guidance and direction to an individual planning for his retirement.

From an analysis of the data collected and the research conducted for this study, it appears that some observations are in order.

First, previous research demonstrated capabilities of causing a positive attitude change toward retirement as a result of participating in a pre-retirement planning program

To the point in time during which this study was conducted there had never been the attempt, at Drake University or elsewhere, to determine attitude change carryover from a pre-retired stage to post-retirement life. Now, for the first time, such an attempt was made. At first glance the results appear disasterous for pre-retirement planning pro-There appears to be no statistically significant evidence to substantiate an attitude carryover value into post-If one remembers that the subjects involved in retirement. this study had participated in a pre-retirement planning program anywhere from three to six years ago, and if one remembers that if a sustained attitude change is desired, it would appear that such sustained attitude change could be brought about only through continued involvement in a preretirement planning program. On this premise, it would appear necessary and required for institutions and organizations engaged in the process of providing pre-retirement planning programs to design continuing type pre-retirement planning programs that participants could participate in not only as pre-retirees but also continue their participation on into post-retirement years.

A second point of discussion centers around the possible use of the regression equation for post-program attitude change presented in this study. Assuming the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale was administered prior to

attending the first session of a pre-retirement planning program, a prediction of the person's post-program attitude
score could be made. Based upon the composite post-program
scores for the entire group for any one pre-retirement planning
program, it would seem possible to utilize such scores to
modify or revise the program content to more fit the group.

The third point for discussion concerns activity involvement and centers around the statistical significance found by this study among persons participating in pension plans relative to activity involvement as against those persons who responded as not participating in pension plans. Although the collected data were not of sufficient size to make a determination, it appears quite possible that a reason for significant difference between participating in a pension plan and not participating in one, is that those who did not participate realized the need to consider those activities that deal with retirement security. This, of course, necessitates further analysis in the attempt to substantiate such a point of view.

Limitations

The major limitation of this study was that it was the first step in a longitudinal study. As a result the study was limited by the size of the sample--a total of 165 persons

participated; selection was a limitation.

This study was limited by the use of an untested attitude measurement scale. A fully standardized instrument would perhaps have produced different results, even from the beginning of the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center.

This study was also limited by the use of an untested activity index. It would appear possible that an improved and/or refined activity measuring device would have produced different results.

There is also the possibility of a halo effect biasing the results of this study. It is now known how much the mere fact of being a part of the study biased the results obtained.

Recommendations

To enable the determination of whether pre-retirement planning programs are truly beneficial to pre-retirees and to suggest additional research for the area of pre-retirement planning, the following recommendations are made:

1. A replication of this study using a larger number of post-retirees who have participated in pre-retirement planning programs should be made, since this was the first study of its kind ever conducted at the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center or elsewhere.

- 2. A reconsideration of program design should be made to provide a type of program that would start with the pre-retiree and continue to keep him involved into the post-retirement years.
- 3. Utilization of the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale should be performed under the auspices of a controlled experimental design.
- 4. An analysis of pre-program and post-retirement followup activities relative to various classification
 variables chosen should be made in order to establish
 significance that may exist that would in turn
 provide guidance for program planning.
- 5. A longitudinal study of pre- and post-program attitudes and activity involvements should be conducted under a controlled experimental design.
- 6. Research should be designed and conducted to determine the most effective time to begin planning for retirement.
- 7. Research should be conducted under controlled experimental conditions to determine what subject matter is required for attaining a constructive and meaningful retirement.
- 8. Construction and testing of measuring instruments designed to determine what constitutes a constructive, meaningful, and satisfying retirement.

- 9. The designing, development, and testing of publicity devices and techniques for recruitment of preretirees into pre-retirement planning programs should be performed.
- 10. The designing and testing of a measurement device that would incorporate the physical, psychological, social, and economic factors of one's life and would predict the age at which any particular individual should retire should be attempted.
- 11. Research to attempt to determine the "social responsibility" of organizations in providing pre-retirement planning programs for employees or members (whose responsibility is it to provide pre-retirement planning) should be designed and conducted.
- 12. A controlled experimental program to determine whether pre-retirees benefit more or benefit less from programs conducted by nonretired or retired instructors should be implemented.
- 13. Utilization of the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self
 Attitude Scale should be performed in such a manner
 so as to determine the validity and reliability of
 the scale.
- 14. An analysis of pre-program and post-retirement activities as indicated by the Activity Involvement

Index should be conducted to determine significance between selected classification variables and activities.

CHAPTER VI. SUMMARY

The purpose of this study was to compare the attitudes toward retirement and activity involvement of people who have completed the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center's sessions on pre-retirement planning with their reported attitudes toward retirement and activity involvement upon reaching age 65 or older.

The attempt has been made to alert the reader to one of the major social issues of the modern day American society, namely, that of the retirement of the older person from a life of gainful employment to a life of leisure. This situation becomes a social issue primarily as a result of large numbers of persons experiencing the retirement phenomenon.

It seems to go without saying that present day society is on the threshold of a time when leisure appears possible for most nearly all people. The crucial factor is that little is being done to educate people for this new style of human life.

A review of literature substantiated that little if any formalized, organized and systematic approach to educating people for a life of leisure exists. The few programs that are offered under the guise of pre-retirement planning are mostly concerned only with the financial aspects in the post-retirement years.

The Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center's major premise since it's establishment in 1967 has been to change negative attitudes toward retirement and involve people pre-retirees in selected types of activities. has been performed diligently throughout the years by involving participants in a seven-session, two-hour per session program designed to facilitate pre-retiree legal and financial planning, to facilitate pre-retiree health and welfare planning, to involve pre-retiree in role-defining activities, and to involve pre-retirees in continuing education endeavors. To the time of this study, there has not been an attempt to evaluate the carryover of positive attitude change and activity involvement from the pre-retiree stage into the postretirement years. As a result of this existing situation, this research study was conducted as a longitudinal comparison of attitudes and activity involvement of persons who have completed the Pre-Retirement Planning Center's program.

Pre-measurements were taken prior to the time of a person's participation in a pre-retirement planning program. This data had been maintained in participant files maintained by the Pre-Retirement Planning Center. Post measurements were gotten through the direct mailing process, during the winter of 1973-1974. The final population for analyses was 41 persons who returned the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self

Attitude Scale, and 165 persons who returned the Activity
Involvement Index. Both measuring devices were developed by
Pre-Retirement Planning Center Staff. The following null
hypotheses were tested:

- There is no sustained significant attitude change in a positive direction toward retirement.
- No significant prediction of a person's postprogram attitude can be made using a regression equation.
- There is no reported significant increase in activity involvement.

A correlated t-test and pooled t-test for significance was used for Hypotheses 1 and 3. A multiple regression analysis was used for Hypothesis 2. Based upon these statistical analyses, the following conclusions were drawn:

- Null Hypothesis 1 failed to be rejected. It was concluded that sustained positive change in attitude toward retirement between pre-retiree status and postretirement years was not significant.
- 2. Null Hypothesis 2 was rejected at the .05 level of significance. It was concluded that prediction of a person's post-program attitude can be made by using a regression equation.
- 3. Null Hypothesis 3 was rejected at the .001 level of significance. It was concluded that reported

activity involvement between pre-retiree status and post-retirement years was significant.

Several limitations to the study were cited which included small sample size, use of an unproven attitude measurement scale and its lack of standardization, and the possibility of a halo effect.

A number of recommendations for future consideration included suggestions for a replication of this study, new program design to keep an individual involved in the planning process, testing of the Pre-Retirement Perceived Self Attitude Scale under a controlled experimental design, and analysis of pre- and post-program activities to provide guidance for new program planning.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- American Association of Retired Persons. Preparation for retirement. A new guide to program development for government employees. Washington, D.C.: AARP, 1968.
- American Management Association. Pre-retirement and post-retirement counseling programs. Los Angeles, California: American Management Association, December, 1967.
- 3. Anderson, Dale G. Learning and the modification of attitudes in pre-retirement education. Adult Leadership 17 (March, 1969): 381-382, 396.
- 4. AOA Publication. Selected national data on the older population and the aged population. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Administration on Aging, July, 1968.
- 5. Ash, P. Pre-retirement counseling. The Gerontologist 6 (June, 1966): 97-99, 127-128.
- 6. Barfield, R. and Morgan, J. Early retirement: The decision and the experience. Ann Arbor, Michigan: The University of Michigan, Institute of Social Research, 1969.
- 7. Bortz, Edward L. Creative aging. New York: Macmillan Company, 1963.
- 8. Bowman, Donald L. Age level at which formal pre-retirement planning results in greatest attitude and adjustment change. Unpublished field report. Drake University, Des Moines, Iowa, 1969.
- 9. Bowman, Donald L. How pre-retirement planning works:
 A guide for program planners. Pre-Retirement Planning Center, Drake University, Des Moines, Iowa, 1971.
- 10. Bowman, D. L. and Best, H. F. How pre-retirement planning works. Results and findings in a three-year demonstration at the Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center, June 1, 1967-May 31, 1970. Pre-Retirement Planning Center, Drake University, Des Moines, Iowa, 1970.

- 11. Bowman, Donald L. Pre-retirement planning programs: A survey - 1970, Pre-Retirement Planning Center, Drake University, Des Moines, Iowa, 1970.
- 12. Breen, L. Z. and Marcus P. N. Preretirement education among labor unions in the United States. Lafayette, Indiana: Department of Sociology, Purdue University, 1960.
- 13. Brotman, Herman B. Every tenth American. Paper read at the State Conference, Iowa Commission of the Aging, Des Moines, Iowa, October 2, 1968.
- 14. Brotman, Herman B. Facts and figures on older Americans. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Administration on Aging. DHEW Publication Number (SRS) 73-20007.
- 15. Buckley, Joseph C. The retirement handbook: A complete planning guide to your future. New York: Harper & Brothers Publishers, 1953.
- 16. Buckley, Joseph C. The retirement handbook. 3rd ed. New York: Harper and Row Publishing Co., 1957.
- 17. Buckley, Joseph C. The retirement handbook. New York: Harper and Row, 1967.
- 18. Buckley, Joseph C. and Schmidt, Henry. The retirement handbook. 4th ed. New York: Harper and Row, 1971.
- 19. Burgess, Ernest W. Retirement preparation: Chicago plan. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, OA 175. Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1968.
- 20. Burgess, Ernest W.; Corey, Lawrence G.; Pineo, Peter C.; and Thornbury, Richard T. Occupational differences in attitudes toward aging and retirement. Journal of Gerontology 13 (1958): 203-206, 1958.
- 21. Burns, R. K. Meeting the challenge of retirement.
 Chicago: Industrial Relations Center, University
 of Chicago, 1960.

- 22. Charles, Don C. Effect of participation in a preretirement program. The Gerontologist 11 (Spring, 1971): 24-28.
- 23. Charles, Don C. Evaluation of a pre-retirement planning program. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Gerontological Society, Toronto, Canada, October 23, 1970.
- 24. Charlesworth, James C., editor. Leisure in America:
 Blessing or curse? Monograph 4 in a series sponsored
 by the American Academy of Political and Social
 Science. Philadelphia: The American Academy of
 Political and Social Science, 1964.
- 25. Clark, F. Le Gros. Work, age and leisure: Causes and consequences of the shortened working life. London: Michael Joseph, 1966.
- 26. Couch, P. D. and Lundgren, E. F. Making voluntary retirement programs work. Personnel Journal 42 (March, 1963): 135-138.
- 27. Crabtree, Arthur P. Education--the key to successful aging. Adult Education 17 (Spring, 1967): 157-165.
- 28. Cumming, Elaine and Henry, William E. Growing old.
 New York: Basic Books, Inc., 1961.
- 29. D'Andrea, A. P., Jr. Pre-retirement counseling and preparation. American Association of Industrial Nurses Journal 19 (July, 1966): 16-18.
- 30. Davidson, W. R. and Kunze, K. R. Psychological, social and economic meanings of work in modern society:

 Their effects on the worker facing retirement.

 The Gerontologist 5 (September, 1965): 129-133.
- 31. Donahue, Wilma; Orbach, H. L.; and Pollak, C. Retirement: The emerging social pattern. Handbook of social gerontology, Edited by Clark Tibbitts. Chicgao: University of Chicago Press, 1960.
- 32. Drake University. Pre-Retirement Planning Center. First annual report. Pre-Retirement Planning Center, Des Moines, Iowa, June 1, 1967 to August 31, 1968.

- 33. Draper, J. E.; Lundgren, E. F.; and Strother, G. B. Work attitudes and retirement adjustment. Madison:

 Bureau of Business Research and Service, The University of Wisconsin, 1967.
- 34. Dugger, James G. The construction, validation and statistical characteristics of the Dugger Pre-Retirement Attitude, Interest, and Adjustment Scale. Drake University Pre-Retirement Planning Center, Des Moines, Iowa, 1969.
- 35. Dugger, James G. Consultant report. Des Moines Retirement Opportunity Planning Center, Des Moines, Iowa, August, 1967.
- 36. Equitable Life Assurance Society. Survey of retirement practices. New York: The Society, 1950 (Mimeographed).
- 37. Fillenbaum, Gerda G. A consideration of some factors related to work after retirement. The Gerontologist 11 (Spring, 1971): 18-23.
- 38. Fillenbaum, Gerda G. Retirement planning programs--at what age and for when. The Gerontologist 11 (Spring, 1971): 33-36.
- 39. Franke, W. H. Preparing workers for retirement. University of Illinois Bulletin 59 (1962): 62-65.
- 40. Friedmann, Eugene A. and Havinghurst, Robert J. The meaning of work and retirement. Chicago, Illinois: The University of Chicago Press, 1954.
- 41. Gardner, John W. What self-renewal can do for retirement. Think 33 (July-August, 1967): 3-6.
- 42. Geist, Harold. The psychological aspects of retirement. Springfield, Illinois: Charles C. Thomas, 1968.
- 43. Grabowski, Stanley M. Eric Materials: Education for Leisure. Adult Leadership 18 (September, 1969): 99-100.

- 44. Greene, Mark R.; Pyron, H. Charles; Manion, U. Vincent; and Winklevoss, Howard. Preretirement counseling, retirement adjustment, and the older employee. Eugene, Oregon: School of Management and Business, University of Oregon, 1969.
- 45. Hahn, Milton E. Planning ahead after 40. The process of psychoevaluation with self-study projects.

 Beverly Hills, Calif.: Western Psychological Services, 1967.
- 46. Hall, Harold R. Some observations on executive retirement. Boston: Harvard University Press, 1961.
- 47. Hamilton, Clarence H. Your rewarding years: New meaning, purpose and happiness from the middle years on. Indianapolis, Indiana: The Bobbs-Merrill Company, Inc., 1955.
- 48. Hewitt, Edwin Shields and Associates. Company practices regarding older workers and retirement. Liberty-ville, Illinois: Edwin Shields Hewitt and Associates, 1951.
- 49. Hubbard, Lorna M. Preparation for retirement. Age with a future: Proceedings of the Sixth International Congress of Gerontology. Edited by P. From Hansen. Copenhagen, Denmark: Munkagaard, 1964.
- 50. Hunter, Woodrow W. Background considerations for research planning in pre-retirement education. Mimeographed report. National Institute of Labor Education, Ann Arbor, Michigan, 1961. (Mimeographed.)
- 51. Hunter, Woodrow W. A longitudinal study of pre-retirement education. Ann Arbor, Michigan: Institute of Gerontology, University of Michigan, 1968. (Mimeographed).
- 52. Hunter, Woodrow W. Preparation for retirement of hourly wage employees in Niagara Falls, New York. Ann Arbor, Michigan: Division of Gerontology, University of Michigan, 1952. (Mimeographed.)

- 53. Hunter, Woodrow W. Trends in pre-retirement education.

 Background paper and bibliography prepared for
 Conference of Welfare Planning Council of Los
 Angeles Region on 'Pre-retirement Counseling:
 A Community responsibility,' at California State
 Polytechnic College, November, 28-30, 1962.
 (Mimeographed.)
- 54. Indiana State Commission on the Aging and Aged. Counseling of the older person. Proceedings of the Governor's Sesquicentennial Conference on Aging, Indianapolis, Indiana, 1966.
- 55. Kreps, J. M. and Law, R. Preparation for retirement.
 New York: National Council on Aging, 1965.
- 56. Kaiser Aluminum News. The theory of the leisure masses. Vol. XXIV, No. 5. Oakland, California: Kaiser Aluminum and Chemical Corporation, 1966.
- 57. Londoner, Carroll A. Survival needs of the aged:
 Implications for program planning. Aging and Human
 Development 1 (May, 1971): 1-11.
- 58. Mack, Margery J. An evaluation of a retirement planning program. Journal of Gerontology 13 (April, 1958): 198-208.
- 59. Maddox, G. Activity and morale: A longitudinal study of selected elderly subjects. Social forces 4 (1964): 195-204.
- 60. Mathiason, Geneva. Criteria for retirement: A report of a national conference on retirement of older workers. New York: G. P. Putnam's Sons, 1953.
- 61. McCann, Charles W., ed. Political activities and attitudes. Senior americans speak out: an action research study of 100 persons 65 years of age and over living in the Capitol Hill Area of Denver, Colorado. Denver, Colo.: Metropolitan Council for Community Service, 1967.

- 62. McCannon, Roger S. Attitude and adjustment change as a result of participation in a systematic and organized pre-retirement planning program. Unpublished Master's thesis. Library, Drake University, Des Moines, Iowa, 1968.
- 63. McClusky, Howard Y. Education: Background paper for White House Conference on Aging, 1971. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1971.
- 64. McFarland, R. A. Reevaluation of the criteria of retirement. Maintaining human potential for effective and useful living. New York: NCOA, 1961.
- 65. Mead, Margaret. Aging differently in the space age. Recreation, May, 1964, 219-245.
- 66. Moore, Eldon H. The nature of retirement. New York: The Macmillan Co., 1959.
- 67. Mulvey, Mary C. Preparing for retirement. Providence, Rhode Island, university of Rhode Island Division of University Extension. 1967.
- 68. National Industrial Conference Board. Retirement of employees: Policies, procedures practices. Studies in personal policy No. 148. New York: National Industrial Conference Board, 1955.
- 69. Neugarten, Bernice L. Middle age and aging. Chicago, Illinois: University of Chicago Press, 1968.
- 70. Neugarten, Bernice L. and Associates. Personality in middle and late life. New York, N.Y.: Atherton Press, 1964.
- 71. New York State. Living for the 60's: A leader's discussion guide. New York: Bureau of Continuing Education Curriculum Development, University of New York, 1967. (Mimeographed.)
- 72. Odell, Charles E. An urgent need: Education for retirement. AFL-CIO Federationist, September, 1966.
- 73. Otto, Elmer. Rehearse before you retire. Appleton, Wisconsin: Retirement Research, 1970.

- 74. Parker, Stanley. The future of work and leisure. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1971.
- 75. Peters, Herman J. and Hansen, James G. The leisure activities of the middle aged. Vocational Guidance and Career Development. New York: Macmillan, 1966.
- 76. Pitkin, Walter Jr. Life begins at fifty. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1965.
- 77. Pollak, Ralph L. and Strohmer, Arthur F., Jr. Are you planning on living the rest of your life?
 Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1965.
- 78. Retirement Advisors, Inc. Making retirement happy:
 They did it. Are you thinking about retirement?
 New York: Retirement Advisors, Inc., 1968.
- 79. Retirement Advisors, Inc. Recreation: Enjoying the leisure of retirement. Are you thinking about retirement? New York: Retirement Advisors, Inc., 1969.
- 80. Schultz, E. B. The TVA pre-retirement program. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Government Printing Office, 1961.
- 81. Simpson, Ida Harper; Back, Kurt W.; and McKinney, John C. Attributes of work, involvement in society, and self evaluation in retirement. Social Aspects of Aging. Edited by I. H. Simpson, and J. C. Mc-Kinney. Durham, North Carolina: Duke University Press, 1966.
- 82. Simpson, Ida Harper; Back, Kurt W.; and McKinney, John C. Exposure to information on preparation for, and self evaluation in retirement. Social Aspects of Aging. Edited by Ida Harper Simpson and John C. McKinney. Durham, North Carolina: Duke University Press, 1966.
- 83. Smith, Ethel Sabin. The dynamics of aging. Chicago, Illinois: The University of Chicago Press, 1968.
- 84. Special issue on problems of education for the aged and aging. Adult Leadership, May, 1960.

- 85. State of Minnesota. Planning the years ahead: A pilot project on retirement preparation for employees of the State of Minnesota. St. Paul, Minnesota: Department of Public Welfare, 1959.
- 86. Stokes, P. G. and Maddox, G. L. Some social factors on retirement adaptation. Journal of Gerontology 22 (July, 1967): 329-333.
- 87. Taves, Marvin J. Federal support for activities and programs in aging. Conference on Social Gerontology. Idyllwild, California: Gerontology Center, University of Southern California, 1966.
- 88. The theory of the masses. Kaiser Aluminum News. Oakland, California: Kaiser Aluminum and Chemical Corporation, 1966.
- 89. Thompson, Wayne. Pre-retirement anticipation and adjustment in retirement. The Journal of Social Issues 14 (April, 1958): 35-45.
- 90. Tuckman, J. and Lorge, I. Retirement practices in business and industry. Journal of Gerontology 7 (April, 1952): 77-86.
- 91. Vedder, Clyde B. Problems of the middle-aged.

 Springfield, Illinois: Charles C. Thomas, 1965.
- 92. Walker, Roger W. An evaluation of a pre-retirement planning program--the TVA experience. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis. Library, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, 1958.
- 93. White House Conference on Aging. Background paper on eudcation for aging. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1960.
- 94. White House Conference on Aging. Background paper on free time activities: Recreation, voluntary services, and citizenship participation. Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1960.
- 95. Wray, Robert P. Education for transition to retirement.
 Adult Leadership 18 (April, 1971): 335-336.

APPENDIX A

PRE-RETIREMENT PERCEIVED-SELF ATTITUDE SCALE

This scale is used for obtaining a record of attitudes about yourself. It is not a test. There are no right or wrong answers. An answer is right only if it is true of you.

There are 100 sentences in this scale. Read each sentence carefully and decide if the characteristic it describes is most or least like you. If it is an attitude which is like you most of the time, place an X in the "MOST LIKE ME" column. If the attitude expressed is not like you, place an X in the "LEAST LIKE ME" column. If, for some reason, you are unable to decide whether the statement is more or less like you, place an X in the "DON'T KNOW" column.

Some statements may seem trivial or foolish. Please mark your choice anyway, by putting down your first reaction and going on. It is important that you reply to all of the statements. Your answers will be kept strictly confidential.

PRE-RETIREMENT SELF ATTITUDE SCALF

Mark according to the way you feel about yourself.

- I am looking forward to the day I can retire.
- 2. I put on a false front.
- 3. My financial status is not adequate for one who is retiring.
- 4. I make strong demands on myself.
- I often kick myself for the things I do.
- 6. I often feel humiliated.
- 7. I doubt my sexual powers.
- I am aware of how money can work for me after I retire.
- I have a warm emotional relationship with others.
- 10. I like to make plans, spend a lot of time, and have a lot of fun getting ready for retirement.
- 11. I am responsible for my troubles.
- 12. I am a responsible person.
- 13. I have a feeling of hopelessness.
- 14. I am protecting my retirement years by maintaining a healthy and vigorous body.
- 15. I can accept most social values and standards.

- 16. I have few values and standards of my own.
- 17. I will continue to learn new things and to get new ideas all through my life.
- 18. It is difficult to control my aggression.
- 19. Self-control is no problem to me.
- 20. My choice of retirement living arrangement should be made only after serious thought.
- 21. I am looking forward to doing only what I've always wanted to when I retire.
- 22. I usually like people.
- 23. I express my emotions freely.
- 24. After retirement, I must keep occupied to remain happy.
- 25. I want to give up trying to cope with the world.
- 26. I can usually live comfortably with the people around me.
- 27. My hardest battles are with myself.
- 28. I tend to be on my guard with people who are somewhat more friendly than I had expected.
- 29. I am optimistic.

- 30. I believe that retirement is the best years of one's life.
- 31. I practice good money management in order to have enough money to retire on.
- 32. I usually feel driven.
- 33. I am liked by most people who know me.
- 34. I seriously neglect my health because it does not matter in the years ahead.
- 35. I am sexually attractive.
- 36. I feel helpless.
- 37. I can usually make up my mind and stick to it.
- 38. My decisions are not my own.
- 39. I haven't thought much about retirement.
- 40. I am a hostile person.
- 41. I am contented.
- 42. I am disorganized.
- 43. I feel apathetic.
- 44. I am poised.
- 45. I want pleasant living arrangements when I retire.
- 46. I do not worry over health problems spoiling my retirement.
- 47. I am impulsive.
- 48. I want something useful and constructive to occupy my time when I retire.

- 49. I don't trust my emotions.
- 50. It's pretty tough to be me.
- 51. I am a rational person.
- 52. I have the feeling that I am just not facing things.
- 53. I am tolerant.
- 54. I try not to think about my problems.
- 55. I have an attractive personality.
- 56. I am shy.
- 57. I have close friends to keep me company when I retire.
- 58. I have nothing but emptiness and frustration to look forward to in retiring.
- 59. I am no one. Nothing seems to be me.
- 60. Since I've spent my lifetime working,
 I'm going to sit back and loaf when
 I retire.
- 61. I am ambitious.
- 62. I despise myself.
- 63. I have initiative.
- 64. I shrink from facing a crisis or difficulty.
- 65. I just don't respect myself.

- 66. I believe that I will grow tired of doing only what I've always wanted to when I retire.
- 67. I take a positive attitude toward myself.
- 68. I am assertive.
- 69. I am afraid of a full-fledged disagreement with a person.
- 70. I can't seem to make up my mind one way or another.
- 71. I am confused.
- 72. I am satisfied with myself.
- 73. I am a failure.
- 74. I am likable.
- 75. My personality is attractive to the opposite sex.
- 76. I am afraid of sex.
- 77. I have a horror of failing in anything I want to accomplish.
- 78. I am relaxed, and nothing really bothers me.
- 79. I am a hard worker.
- 80. I feel emotionally mature.
- 81. It is not necessary to get too concerned over the choice of retirement living arrangements.
- 82. I believe that one cannot learn after he reaches 60 or 70 years of age.

- 83. I really am disturbed.
- 84. All you have to do is just insist with me, and I give in.
- 85. I feel insecure within myself.
- 86. I have to protect myself with excuses, with rationalizing
- 87. I will put off making any plans for retirement until the time I retire.
- 88. I am intelligent.
- 89. I am uncertain as to how investment programs can aid in my retirement.
- 90. I feel hopeless.
- 91. I am self-reliant.
- 92. I will have no worry over money matters when I retire.
- 93. The thoughts of retirement scare me.
- 94. I am different from others.
- 95. I am unreliable.
- 96. I understand myself.
- 97. I am a good mixer.
- 98. I feel adequate.
- 99. I am worthless.
- 100. I dislike my own sexuality.

APPENDIX B

PRE-RETIREMENT PLANNING CENTER Drake University Des Moines, Iowa

CONFIDENTIAL DESCRIPTIVE DATA FORM

Your	Name:	_Age:	_Sex:	M	F
Home	Address:	Telephone	:		,
City	:	Zip Code:			
Birt	hdate: (Month)(Day)	(Year)			
Α.	What is your current marital st SingleMarriedSeparate		edWi	dowed	l
в.	Are you a Veteran?				
с.	What is the highest grade in so (Circle appropriate number) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 Ph.D. Other (Trade or Vocational Sch	14 15 16	B.A	M.A	
D.	Who is your present employer? Name: City: How long have you worked for the second of	ob? al ons e? hat was you	ır last		title
Ε.	In which of the following income personal total annual income \$\frac{5}{2},000-3,999\$ \$\frac{5}{3},000-\frac{5}{3},000-5,999\$ \$\frac{5}{3},000-\frac{5}{3}	be included	1?		
F.	Do you participate in a compan Yes No. If yes, how lon		nt plan?		

G.	At what age do you expect to retire? What do you estimate will be your personal total monthly income at retirement? Do you anticipate a need for employment after retirement? Full-time Part-time No need.				
н.	As you approach retirement which of the following concern you:				
	Estate Planning My Health Legal Planning My Education Taxes Leisure Time Activities Retirement Income Need for Employment Social Security Where to Live Medicare Other (Please explain)				
Ι.	Check below the items in which you have been involved during the past year.				
	Legal Planning Church Organizations Insurance Planning Social Clubs Financial Planning Personal Counseling Civic Organizations Social Security Planning Other (Please explain) Professional Organizations Occupational Organizations Service Clubs Education for Credit Adult Education Seasonal Employment Fraternal Organizations				
J.	Where did you first learn about the Pre-Retirement				
	Planning Center? Newspaper article Newspaper Advertisement Drake Brochure Employer Radio or T.V. Announcement A Friend Husband or wife Other (what source?)				

APPENDIX C

Seven-Session Pre-Retirement Planning Program

SESSION I - INTRODUCTION AND ORIENTATION

- A. Introduction
 - 1. Objectives and goals
 - 2. Expectations of participants
- B. Need for Pre-Retirement Planning
 - 1. Statistics on increasing life expectancy
 - 2. To overcome crisis brought about by abrupt change
- C. Completion of Personal Data Sheet (optional)
- D. Coffee Break
- E. General Group Discussion
 - 1. Discussion of outline of material to be covered in following weeks
 - Individual counseling appointments made if requested

SESSION II - CHANGING ROLE

- A. Films on Retirement Planning (Note: The presentation of Session II presents an option of showing three film strips with accompanying 33-1/3 sound track or a 16 mm color, sound, movie. Perhaps in some instances both will be used. However, since the same topics are discussed in both the film strips and movie, the movie has been found to be somewhat more effective for the Drake University project).
 - 1. Movie: "The Rest of Your Life"
 - a. When should planning for retirement begin?
 - b. Where should one live after retiring?
 - c. How can time be spent productively?
 - d. What monetary factors should be considered?
 - 2. Film Strips:
 - a. "The Best Is Yet To Be"
 - (1) Role changes as a result of retirement
 - (2) Use of leisure time
 - (3) Ouestions one must ask

- b. "The Far Side of The Moon"
 - (1) Financial and legal planning
 - (2) Money and budget considerations
- c. "The Time of Your Life"
 - (1) Housing where to live
 - (2) Health and medical
 - (3) Leisure time community activities
- B. Coffee Break
- C. Psychological Adjustment in Retirement
 - 1. Peace or crisis
 - 2. Rewards from leisure
 - 3. Rewards from work
 - 4. Involvement is keynote
 - 5. Related studies--research findings

SESSION III - FINANCIAL

- A. Legal and Financial Planning
 - 1. List of assets--prepare one now
 - 2. Methods of distribution
 - Joint tenancy tenants in common sole ownership
 - b. Designation of life insurance
 - c. No will
 - d. Having a will
- B. Coffee Break
- C. Estate Planning
 - 1. Will
 - a. Executor fees
 - b. Mechanics of preparing a will
 - 2. Trust
 - a. Living trust
 - b. Trustee fees
- D. Taxation
 - 1. Income taxes
 - 2. Gift taxes
 - 3. Inheritance taxes

SESSION IV - FINANCIAL - HEALTH AND WELFARE

- A. Social Security
 - 1. General discussion of Social Security
 - a. History
 - b. Funding
 - c. Differences from private systems
 - 2. Method of calculation
 - a. Base taxable income
 - b. Coverage year
 - 3. Benefits
 - a. Retirement benefits
 - b. Disability benefits
 - c. Widow's benefit
 - d. Death benefit
 - 4. Retirement test
 - a. Earnings covered
 - b. Documents required
- B. Coffee Break
- C. Medicare
 - 1. Part A: Hospital
 - a. Benefits
 - b. Cost
 - 2. Part B: Physicians' fees
 - a. Monthly premiums
 - b. Coverage

SESSION V - FINANCIAL - HEALTH AND WELFARE

- A. Employment After Retirement
 - 1. Full-time or part-time
 - 2. Kinds of jobs available
 - 3. Supplemental income
 - 4. Obstacles to overcome
 - a. Age
 - b. Physical
 - 5. Assets of older workers
 - 6. Where to find a job
- B. Coffee Break
- C. Health and Welfare

- 1. Diet
 - a. Food requirements
 - b. Meal planning
 - c. Weight watching
- 2. Physical conditioning
 - a. Exercise
 - b. Diet
- 3. Signs to look for

SESSION VI - CONTINUING EDUCATION

CREATIVITY AND USE OF LEISURE TIME

- A. Continuing Education
 - 1. Need for education
 - 2. Too old to learn?
 - 3. Local adult education opportunities
- B. Coffee Break
- C. Creativity
 - 1. How and when to be creative
- D. Use of Leisure Time
 - 1. Hobbies
 - 2. Crafts
 - 3. Volunteer work and community services

SESSION VII - CHANGING ROLES

- A. So What's Retirement
 - 1. Retirement from a retired individual's viewpoint
 - 2. Things to look out for
 - 3. Things to enjoy
- B. American Association of Retired Persons (AARP)
 - 1. History of organization
 - 2. Advantages of membership
 - 3. How to become a member
- C. Coffee Break
- D. Summary Discussion of the Program
 - Development of additional programs
 - 2. Explanation of evaluation and follow-up
- E. General Discussion

APPENDIX D

Code System Used for Regression Classification Variables

The following is the coding system used for regression classification variables. The data were collected from the Confidential Descriptive Data Sheet (Appendix B). Each item is identified by its corresponding position on the Confidential Descriptive Data Sheet.

Item		Code
Age		Direct raw data
Sex		1-male, 2-female
"A"	(marital status)	1 through 5 respectively
"B"	(veteran)	1-yes, 2-no, 3-no response
"C"	(education) (degree)	Direct raw data 0-no response, 1-B.A., 2-M.A., 3-Ph.D.
"D"	(classification of job)	1 through 6 respectively
"E"	(annual personal income)	1 through 9 respectively
"F"	(participate in pension plan) (length in plan)	<pre>1-yes, 2-no, 0-no response Direct raw data, all 0's- no response</pre>
"G"	<pre>(expected age at retirement) (expected monthly income in retirement) (need for employment in retirement)</pre>	no response
"1"	(activities	0-not checked, 1-checked